Antiviral Research 133 (2016) 32-40

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Antiviral Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/antiviral

Review

Nucleic acid polymers: Broad spectrum antiviral activity, antiviral mechanisms and optimization for the treatment of hepatitis B and hepatitis D infection

Andrew Vaillant

Replicor Inc., 6100 Royalmount Avenue, Montreal, Quebec, H4P 2R2, Canada

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 26 May 2016 Received in revised form 4 July 2016 Accepted 6 July 2016 Available online 9 July 2016

Keywords: Hepatitis B virus Hepatitis delta virus HBsAg Nucleic acid polymer Antiviral therapy

ABSTRACT

Antiviral polymers are a well-studied class of broad spectrum viral attachment/entry inhibitors whose activity increases with polymer length and with increased amphipathic (hydrophobic) character. The newest members of this class of compounds are nucleic acid polymers whose activity is derived from the sequence independent properties of phosphorothioated oligonucleotides as amphipathic polymers. Although the antiviral mechanisms and broad spectrum antiviral activity of nucleic acid polymers mirror the functionality of other members of this class, they exert in addition a unique post entry activity in hepatitis B infection which inhibits the release of HBsAg from infected hepatocytes. This review provides a general overview of the antiviral polymer class with a focus on nucleic acid polymers and their development as therapeutic agents for the treatment of hepatitis B/hepatitis D. This article forms part of a symposium in Antiviral Research on "An unfinished story: from the discovery of the Australia antigen to the development of new curative therapies for hepatitis B."

© 2016 The Author. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	32
2.	Antiviral polymers – a history	33
3.	Phosphorothioate oligonucleotides as a drug class: conserved polymeric features and pharmacokinetic behaviours	33
4.	Nucleic acid polymers: PS-ONs with sequence independent and size dependent broad spectrum activity against viral and other infectious diseases	33
5.	NAP effects in viral hepatitis – a novel targets and a novel post entry antiviral activity in HBV infection	35
6.	Optimization of NAPs for clinical use in HBV infection	35
7.	NAPs: therapeutic effects in vivo and current mechanistic hypothesis in HBV	36
8.	NAPs: application in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B and D infection	37
9.	Future perspectives	38
	Acknowledgements	. 38
	References	. 38

1. Introduction

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) has affected more than 2 billion people worldwide, with recent estimates indicating that 248 million of these individuals still have chronic HBV infection (Schweitzer et al., 2015). The life cycle and molecular biology of HBV infection have been previously described by Gish et al., 2015 in this review series. Complications arising from chronic hepatitis B include the development of liver fibrosis and hepatocelulluar carcinoma (Gish et al., 2015) necessitating therapy to control infection. The disappearance of the hepatitis B surface antigen protein (HBsAg) from the blood (HBsAg loss) is considered the best prognostic indicator for the establishment of control over HBV infection which can endure in







E-mail address: availlant@replicor.com. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.07.004

^{0166-3542/© 2016} The Author. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

the absence of therapy (Frenette and Gish, 2009; Moucari et al., 2009). While treatment with HBV polymerase inhibitors like entecavir and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate suppress HBV DNA and control the onset of liver disease, they rarely lead to HBsAg loss and require continual therapy (Chang et al., 2006; Lai et al., 2006; Marcellin et al., 2008). Treatment with immunotherapies like pegylated interferon can achieve HBsAg loss but only in a small fraction of patients and combination treatment with immunotherapy and HBV polymerase inhibitors offers only small improvements in the rates of HBsAg loss on therapy (Lau et al., 2005; Marcellin et al., 2008, 2016). As such, there is a need for more effective treatments for CHB infection, particularly those therapies which can increase the incidence of HBsAg loss during therapy.

Nucleic acid polymers (NAPs) are the most recently characterized member of the antiviral polymer family of compounds which share the broad spectrum antiviral activity of this class of antiviral compounds. Importantly, NAPs appear to have a unique ability to block the secretion of HBsAg from HBV-infected hepatocytes not observed with other antiviral polymers. NAPs also belong to another class of compounds, phosphorothioate oligonucleotides (PS-ONs), which can be safely given to human subjects where they naturally accumulate in the liver and enter into hepatocytes. This article provides an overview of the mechanistic properties of antiviral polymers, the general pharmacokinetic properties of PS-ONs and a review of the discovery, characterization and optimization of NAPs for clinical use and their antiviral effects against HBV and HDV infection *in vivo* and in human subjects.

2. Antiviral polymers – a history

A variety of polymeric compounds with antiviral activity have been described and although this class of compounds comprises polymers of differing chemical structures (see Fig. 1), they are known to exert their antiviral effects through similar mechanisms governed by polymer length and hydrophobicity. Sulfated polysaccharides such as heparin sulfate or dextran sulfate are perhaps the most widely studied members of this class and have been shown to have a broad spectrum antiviral activity against a wide range of viruses including human immunodeficiency virus, herpes viruses, respiratory syncytial virus, parainfluenza virus, influenza, dengue virus and other encephalitic flaviviruses, hepatitis C, hepatitis B and hepatitis D (Baba et al., 1988a; Hosoya et al., 1991; Lüsher-Mattli, 2000; Lee et al., 2006; Basu et al., 2007; Leistner et al., 2008; Ghosh et al., 2009; Longarela et al., 2013). The antiviral activity of sulfated polysaccharides is not dependent on sugar composition in the polymer chain but is length dependent, with longer polymers having more potent antiviral activity and dependent on sulfate content, with more sulfated glycan polymers having greater antiviral activity (Baba et al., 1988b; Hosoya et al., 1991; Leistner et al., 2008). Sulfation is known to increase the hydrophobicity of polysaccharides (Robinson et al., 1984), suggesting that the conserved requirement of sulfation for antiviral activity defines a large hydrophobic interaction domain somehow important in viral entry. Several studies have demonstrated that sulfated polysaccharides interfere with the initial, non-specific viral adsorption at the cell surface, likely by interfering with the interaction between heparin sulfate glycosaminoglycans and viral fusion glycoproteins or by preventing membrane fusion between the virus and the host cell in viruses with class 1 fusion glycoproteins (Hosoya et al., 1991; Feyzi et al., 1997; Cheshenko et al., 2004; Schulze et al., 2007).

Similar length and hydrophobic dependent broad spectrum antiviral activity has been described for a wide variety of polymers chemically related to sulfated glycans including polystyrene sulfonate, polyvinylalcohol sulfate, polymethylenehydroquinone sulfonate, napthalene sulfonate and carrageenans (Baba et al., 1990; Ikeda et al., 1994; Neurath et al., 2002; Bourne et al., 1999; Rusconi et al., 1996) which are likely a result of analogous chemical features shared by this class of compounds (Fig. 1).

3. Phosphorothioate oligonucleotides as a drug class: conserved polymeric features and pharmacokinetic behaviours

Oligonucleotides are most widely known for their application in hybridization based technologies such as antisense or siRNA which target specific, complementary regions of nucleic acids within the cell (such as mRNA) to affect their degradation via recruitment of nucleases (Bennett and Swazye, 2010; Wilson and Doudna, 2013; Sharma et al., 2014). However, in addition to this sequence specific functionality, single stranded oligonucleotides are also polymers with polyanionic characteristics which are largely conserved regardless of their nucleotide sequence. Similar to sulfation in other antiviral polymers, the hydrophobic (and amphipathic) characteristic of oligonucleotides is enhanced by phosphorothioation of the phosphodiester linkages (Agrawal et al., 1990), rendering phosphorothioated oligonucleotides heparin sulfate-like in their chemical properties (Guvakova et al., 1995; Fennewald and Rando, 1995) similar to other antiviral polymers (Fig 1).

Numerous clinical trials have been conducted with single stranded phosphorothioated oligonucleotides (PS-ONs, used as antisense oligonucleotides) over the past two decades from which conserved class behaviours have been established: after administration by intravenous infusion or subcutaneous injection. PS-ONs are rapidly cleared from the blood (1/2 life < 1 h) concomitant with accumulation in peripheral organs, the most significant of which are the liver and kidney (Bennett and Swazye, 2010), ultimately leading to the upake of PS-ONs into hepatocytes by mechanism not yet fully elucidated (Geary et al., 2015). PS-ONs are stable to nuclease -mediated degradation, but degrade slowly overtime, with the primary route of elimination via the kidney (Geary et al., 2015). Importantly, pharmacologically active levels of PS-ON can be maintained in these organs with once weekly dosing which is generally well tolerated with chronic exposure (Bennett and Swazye, 2010). As NAPs are PS-ONs, the application of the lessons learned from effective dosing regimens of other PS-ONs, in the clinic have been successfully applied in the clinical use of NAPs as discussed below.

4. Nucleic acid polymers: PS-ONs with sequence independent and size dependent broad spectrum activity against viral and other infectious diseases

Nucleic acid polymers (NAPs) are single stranded PS-ONs that function independently from any antisense or immunostimulatory effects based on their properties as amphipathic polymers. The complete structure function relationship for the antiviral activity of NAPs as well as their molecular mechanism of action was first completely elucidated in a study describing the specific antiviral effects of NAPs during the entry of HIV-1 (Vaillant et al., 2006). In this study, the entry inhibition effect of NAPs was shown to be sequence independent and size dependent, requiring NAPs longer than 20 nucleotides for significant antiviral effect, with optimal antiviral activity observed for NAPs 40 nucleotides or longer in length. This antiviral activity was also specifically dependent on the amphipathicity conferred by phosphorothioation in a manner independent of the increased nuclease stability present with this modification. The structure function relationship required for inhibition of HIV-1 entry indicated that a large amphipathic protein domain in a protein involved in the entry of HIV-1 into the host cell



Fig. 1. Representative chemical structures of antiviral polymers are shown for polyvinyl alcohol sulfate (PVAS), sulfated poly acrylic poly vinyl co-polymer (PAVAS), sulfated polysaccharides (SPS), polystyrene sulfate (PSS), polynapthelene sulfate (PNS) and nucleic acid polymers (NAP). Composition of phosphate and carboxylic acid groups in PVAS and PAVAS are variable. Sulfated polysaccharides with antiviral activity can vary in sugar content and sulfate content >2 per sugar residue. REP 2055 and REP 2139 are oligonucleotide copolymers of alternating adenosine and cytidine optimized for tolerability and activity in HBV/HDV infection (Table 1). Additional modifications present in REP 2139 (5'meth-ylcytosine and 2' O-methylribose) to improve NAP administration tolerability in human subjects are shown in bold.

was the target for NAP interaction. This domain was confirmed to be the amphipathic alpha helix triplets found in the fusion core in the gp41 fusion glycoproteins. The NAP-gp41 interaction requires the amphipathic alpha-helices of gp41 to be uncomplexed (with their hydrophobic surfaces exposed), a conformation found only in the pre-fusion conformation of gp41. NAP interaction with this target domain on gp41 exhibited the same sequence independent and phosphorothioation and length dependent features as required for NAP inhibition of viral entry. These interactions were driven by numerous cooperative hydrophobic interactions between the hydrophobic surface of the amphipathic alpha helices in gp41 and the hydrophobic surface of NAPs as depicted in Fig. 2. This study showed that NAPs could function as entry inhibitors by blocking the transition of gp41 into its membrane fusion-competent conformation.

Uncomplexed amphipathic alpha helix triplex structures analogous to those present in the pre-fusion conformation of HIV-1 gp41 are conserved in class 1 fusion glycoproteins from many other viruses susceptible to antiviral polymers (Eckert and Kim, 2001; Lamb and Jardetzky, 2007), consistent with the proposed antiviral mechanism of other antiviral polymers. Following on from the initial study in HIV-1, NAPs were subsequently shown to have the same sequence independent and phosphorothioation (amphipathic) and length dependent antiviral effects in other viruses with class I fusion glycoproteins including herpesviruses, cytomegalovirus, and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. (Guzman et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Bernstein et al., 2008; Cardin et al., 2009).

NAPs and other PS-ONs with NAP-like functionality also prevent prion protein conversion and block malarial entry into red blood cells with an activity that follows the same structure function relationship as observed for NAP activity against viruses with class I fusion glycoproteins (Clark et al., 1994; Kanagaratnam et al., 1998; Kocisko et al., 2006), effects which are also described for other antiviral polymers (Caughey and Raymond, 1993; Xiao et al., 1996; Vogt et al., 2003). Amphipathic alpha helices analogous to those found in class I fusion glycoproteins are also found in prion proteins where they are involved in conversion of the prion protein to its pathogenic form, and in the Duffy-binding-like domain of erythrocyte binding protein from *Plasmodium sp.* which is involved in malarial entry into erythrocytes (Knaus et al., 2001; Singh et al., 2005) and these domains have been proposed as the target sites for antiviral polymers (Vogt et al., 2003; Kocisko et al., 2006).

These conserved determinants of biological activity of NAPs, not only in viral infection but also in other infectious diseases supports



Fig. 2. Current model for universal NAP interaction with uncomplexed amphipathic protein targets. NAP interaction involves a series of cooperative hydrophobic interactions between the hydrophobic surface of an exposed (uncomplexed) amphipathic alpha helix (red) and the hydrophobic surface of NAPs (green). The hydrophobic environment is indicated in pink and the hydrophilic environment is indicated in blue.

a universal model for NAP pharmacology (Fig. 2), with numerous cooperative interactions occurring between the exposed hydrophobic surface of a large, uncomplexed amphipathic protein domain and the hydrophobic side of NAPs (which is enhanced in the presence of phosphorothioation). This interaction prevents conformational changes in the target or its interaction with other amphipathic helices, forming the basis of the biological effect of NAPs.

5. NAP effects in viral hepatitis – a novel targets and a novel post entry antiviral activity in HBV infection

NAPs have also been shown to be entry inhibitors of HCV (Matsumura et al., 2009), having the identical structure function relationship for antiviral effect as observed in viruses with class I fusion glycoproteins. However this study showed that NAPs do not block cell attachment but instead block a downstream, postbinding event required for viral entry. This effect might involve interactions of NAPs with multiple proteins such as the hypervariable region of glycoprotein E2 or apolipoprotein E, which also have NAP-like interactions with heparin sulfate (Libeu et al., 2001; Basu et al., 2004) and are involved in post-binding HCV entry (Basu et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2007).

Initial evaluations of the antiviral effect of NAPs in HBV infection were performed in DHBV-infected primary duck hepatocytes (PDH) (Noordeen et al., 2013a) and confirmed the same sequence independent, size and amphipathic dependent antiviral activity against DHBV infection as found in other viruses. This antiviral activity included the ability of NAPs to block the HBV life cycle both during and after viral entry. This novel post-entry activity was not observed for NAPs in other viral infections (see above) or for other antiviral polymers in HBV infection (Leistner et al., 2008), suggesting a unique potential for NAPs as therapeutic agents in chronic HBV infection. More recent preliminary results from initial experiments in HBV infected HepaRG cells and primary human hepatocytes (Guillot et al., 2015) suggests that phosphorothioated NAPs may also block HBV entry in a sequence independent manner but not in the presence of 2'O methyl ribose modification (i.e. for NAPs like REP 2139, see below) and no post entry antiviral activity has yet been observed in these models. However, efficient uptake and subcellular delivery of PS-ONs is known to be defective in hepatocytes or hepatocyte derived cell lines in tissue culture (Koller et al., 2011) which complicates interpretation of this preliminary data. Verification of these early results and exploration of the post entry effects of NAPs *in vitro* in these models are still ongoing. While the molecular mechanisms of this post entry effect are still under investigation, their effects against DHBV infection *in vivo* and in clinical trials (as discussed below) currently suggest that NAPs block secretion of HBsAg from infected hepatocytes and further may selectively block the secretion of subviral particles.

6. Optimization of NAPs for clinical use in HBV infection

The antiviral activity of NAPs is not only sequence independent but also tolerates modification of all ribose sugars at the 2' position (Vaillant et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007; Bernstein et al., 2008; Matsumura et al., 2009; Noordeen et al., 2013b). This flexibility permits the optimization of NAPs for tolerability in vivo without impacting antiviral effect by altering sequence composition and or incorporating 2' ribose modification at any nucleotide position, advantages unique to NAPs. As is the case for all PS-ONs, the tolerability of NAPs can be impacted by pro-inflammatory/ immunostimulatory effects mediated by recognition of single stranded oligonucleotides by TLR-7, -8, and -9 or RIG-I (Kawai and Akira, 2009) which recognize single stranded DNA or RNA. Initial animal experiments with the prototypic 40mer degenerate NAP polymer REP 2006 (Table 1) in CMV infected mice and DHBV infected ducks showed that NAPs could prevent CMV infection in the spleen and liver or DHBV infection in the liver but that treatment in either mice or ducks was accompanied by hepatotoxicity and splenomegaly (Cardin et al., 2009; Noordeen et al., 2013b). The tolerability of REP 2006 in DHBV infected ducks was poor enough to require dose reduction shortly after treatment began (Noordeen et al., 2013b). The degenerate nature of REP 2006 (Table 1) results in the presence of CpG motifs capable of stimulating TLR-9 (Krieg, 2002), consistent with its ability to stimulate cytokine induction in PBMCs (Cardin et al., 2009). A second candidate NAP, REP 2031, was designed as a 40mer polycytidine homopolymer (Table 1) with no CpG motifs and was confirmed to have negligible cytokine response in human PBMCs (Cardin et al., 2009), confirming TLR-9 as the primary sensor for NAPs. REP 2031 retained the same antiviral activity as REP 2006 in preventing CMV infection (Cardin et al., 2009) and could also block HCV infection of the liver in vivo (Matsumura et al., 2009) and was not accompanied by hepatotoxicity or splenomegaly, illustrating that the antiviral effects of NAPs in vivo were not derived from pro-inflammatory/ immunostimulatory properties.

Oligonucleotides with polypyrimidine tracts (i.e. REP 2031) also form obligate homotetramers (i-motif DNA) at acidic pH (Leroy et al., 1993; Kanehara et al., 1997). This activity neutralizes the amphipathic feature of REP 2031 at acidic pH and also renders it stable to acid hydrolysis at pH 1 (Bernstein et al., 2008). The conservation of antiviral effect of REP 2031 against CMV and HCV infection *in vivo* not only excluded pro-inflammatory/ immunostimulatory effects as part of the antiviral mechanism but also demonstrated that the entry-inhibitory effects of NAPs for CMV and HCV involved activity at a neutral pH. Additionally, the pH stability of REP 2031 made possible its delivery through the gastrointestinal tract and when combined with intestinal permeation enhancers, oral administration of naked REP 2031 was shown to have antiviral effect against CMV infection in the liver (Cardin et al., 2009).

However, while REP 2031 was able to block entry of DHBV, it had

Table 1

Optimization of NAPs for clinical use in HBV/HDV infection.

NAP	Sequence ^a	Activity		Tolerability in vivo
		In vivo (DHBV)	Clinically	
REP 2006	(dN) ₄₀	YES	NA	Poor ^f
REP 2031	(dC) ₄₀ (loss of activity at acidic pH)	NO ^c	NA	Good
REP 2055	$(dAdC)_{20}^{b}$	YES ^d	YES	Good ^g
REP 2139	(2'OMeA, 2'OMe-5-MeC) ₂₀ ^b	YES ^e	YES	Good ^h

d = deoxyribonucleic acid, N = degenerate sequence (random A, G, T or C at every position), NA = not assessed.

^a All linkages are phosphorothioated.

^b See Fig. 1 for structure.

^c Blocks viral entry of CMV and HCV *in vivo*.

^d Also blocks viral entry of HCV *in vivo*.

^e Unpublished data (Brikh et al., 2015).

^f Due to CpG content.

^g Significant administration related side effects in humans.

^h Administration well tolerated in humans (REP 2139-Ca).

no post-entry antiviral activity in DHBV infected PDH (Noordeen et al., 2013a), strongly suggesting that the unique post entry effect of NAPs in DHBV infection occurs intracellularly in an acidified compartment. *In vivo*, treatment of ducks with REP 2031 was well tolerated, but failed to prevent DHBV-infection in ducks (Noordeen et al., 2013b), indicating that the post entry effect of NAPs is essential for the prophylactic activity in DHBV infection *in vivo*.

An additional optimization of the REP 2031 sequence recovered well tolerated post-entry NAP activity in DHBV infection. This involved "doping" the polypyrimidine sequence of REP 2031 with a purine nucleotide (adenosine) at every other position, vielding REP 2055 (Table 1), a 40mer NAP still devoid of CpG activity (Noordeen et al., 2015) but incapable of tetramerization (and loss of amphipathicity) at acidic pH (Geinguenaud et al., 2000). This NAP was able to prevent DHBV infection in ducks and block liver infection by HCV in Scid/Hu mice and was well tolerated in both models (Matsumura et al., 2009; Noordeen et al., 2013b). Finally, to address administration tolerability issues observed with REP 2055 in human subjects (Al-Mahtab et al., 2016), additional oligonucleotide modifications were introduced to further suppress any residual pro-inflammatory activity which consisted of 5-methylation of each cytosine base and 2'O-methyl modification of each ribose sugar (see Fig. 1 and Table 1). These modifications occur naturally in mammalian DNA (Ehrlich et al., 1982; Kiss, 2001) and are known to block TLR recognition of oligonucleotides (Kariko et al., 2005; Judge et al., 2006; Robbins et al., 2007). This new NAP, REP 2139, was additionally formulated as a calcium chelate complex (REP 2139-Ca) to block chelation effects during administration common to PS-ONs (Mata et al., 2000).

7. NAPs: therapeutic effects *in vivo* and current mechanistic hypothesis in HBV

The therapeutic potential of REP 2055 to treat chronic HBV infection was assessed by treating ducks 2 weeks after DHBV infection, which has been previously shown to reliably result in persistent (>280 days) DHBV infection (Foster et al., 2003). A series of experiments evaluating different treatment doses and dosing regimens as long as 28 days were conducted (Noordeen et al., 2015). In these studies, all control animals treated with normal saline maintained a chronic DHBV infection throughout the course of the experiment whereas REP 2055 treatment was accompanied by the reduction and or clearance of duck HBsAg (DHBsAg) in the blood with simultaneous increases in serum titers of anti-DHBsAg antibodies and decreases in serum DHBV DNA. At the end of treatment, DHBsAg was found in the livers of many animals despite clearance from the blood, suggesting that NAPs block the release of

DHBsAg from infected hepatocytes. Moreover, although reductions in serum DHBV DNA >3 log were observed in all treated ducks, many maintained persistent serum DHBV DNA titers $(10^5-10^6$ copies/ml) despite clearance of serum DHBsAg. Similar to HBV infection in humans, DHBV infection results in the production of non-infectious subviral particles (SVPs) that outnumber infectious virus by more than 10,000 to 1 (Ganem and Prince, 2004; Franke et al., 2007). The unusual observation of persistent DHBV DNA titres, despite clearance of serum DHBsAg, is consistent with a selective effect of NAPs on secretion of SVPs (see Fig. 3).

Of particular interest in these *in vivo* studies was the absence of viremia that persisted after REP 2055 therapy was discontinued in these studies: 55% of treated ducks maintained suppression of serum DHBsAg and DHBV DNA which was accompanied by the clearance of DHBsAg, DHBV core antigen, DHBV DNA and cccDNA from the liver during the 16 weeks of follow up after treatment, suggesting the establishment of a durable control of infection with relatively short duration REP 2055 treatment. The durable control of infection observed in DHBV-infected ducks with REP 2055 cannot be achieved in the duck model with other antiviral agents such as pencyclovir, entecavir and adefovir (Lin et al., 1998; Nicoll et al., 1988; Le Guerhier et al., 2003; Foster et al., 2003), which effectively clears circulating DHBV DNA but does not affect circulating DHBsAg levels. This suggests that the unique effect of NAPs of clearing DHBsAg from the blood may play a role in the establishment of durable control of infection observed with REP 2055.

Based on the structure activity relationship of NAPs in DHBV and the antiviral effects observed in the duck model, the current mechanistic hypothesis (Fig. 3) is that *in vivo*, NAPs enter infected hepatocytes and interfere with some aspect of SVP assembly or trafficking through an acidified compartment in the secretory pathway which prevents the release of SVPs into the circulation. This is consistent with the lack of post-entry/*in vivo* activity with REP 2031 and the observation of persistent DHBV DNA (virons) in the circulation in the absence of detectable DHBsAg as discussed above.

SVPs share many biochemical similarities to human serum HDL (Galvanes et al., 1982), suggesting that some aspect of apolipoprotein metabolism may be involved in their assembly and or secretion. Moreover, apolipoprotein H, a component of HDL, is a known ligand of HBsAg (Medhi et al., 1994, 2008). The heparin-like features of PS-ONs (as described above) may drive apolipoprotein interactions that interfere with SVP assembly and or transit but this remains to be proven. The identification of target(s) for NAP interaction which are involved in their post-entry activity in HBV are currently the focus of ongoing investigation.



Fig. 3. Particle production in HBV infected hepatocytes (A) and current model for the mechanism of action of NAPs (B). In this model, the secretion of subviral particles is selectively blocked by NAPs.

8. NAPs: application in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B and D infection

The clinical impact of REP 2055 on treatment naïve subjects with HBeAg positive chronic HBV infection was assessed in a small proof of concept clinical trial (REP 101 study, Al-Mahtab et al., 2016) using dosing regimens drawn from previous clinical studies with antisense PS-ONs targeting liver disease (Kastelein et al., 2006). In this trial, patients either had demonstrable maternal transmission of their HBV infection or were HBsAg positive for at least 6 months prior to treatment. The effects of REP 2055 monotherapy in these patients were remarkably similar to those observed in DHBV infected ducks in vivo: in 7/8 patients, treatment was accompanied by reduction or clearance of serum HBsAg up to 7 logs from baseline (in some cases resulting in HBsAg loss) which was accompanied by the appearance of anti-HBsAg antibodies, HBeAg seroconversion and reduction of serum HBV DNA. Moreover, during therapy, some patients experienced protracted periods of HBsAg loss where substantial titers of HBV DNA (~10⁵ copies/ml) still persisted in the blood suggesting that the post-entry mechanism postulated in DHBV infection (selective blockage of SVP particle secretion) might also be occurring in human HBV infection. Four responder patients also experienced transient elevations in liver transaminases. These transaminase flares were not accompanied by any other evidence of liver dysfunction and were timed with the reduction or clearance of viremia and self-resolved with continuing REP 2055 therapy. Also similar to the previous duck studies, 3/7 responders maintained suppression of serum viremia (serum HBV DNA < 1000 copies/ml and HBsAg < 1 IU/ml) for 1 year after treatment was stopped, with two of these patients currently having no detectable serum HBV DNA and HBsAg < LLOQ (0.05 IU/ml) 4.5–5 years off treatment.

Chronic REP 2055 treatment for more than 1 year was well tolerated in these patients except for administration side-effects common for PS-ONs administered by IV infusion (Tolcher et al., 2004; Chi et al., 2005). These included shivering, fever and head-ache which resolved after administration but which required extended infusion times and or the use of supportive therapy during administration. To address this tolerability issue a new NAP compound, REP 2139, was designed and prepared as a calcium chelate complex (REP 2139-Ca, see above).

Overexpression of the large form of HBsAg (LHBsAg) in transgenic mice is associated with hepatotoxicity (Chisari et al., 1987) and with the observations in the duck model indicating that the post-entry activity of NAPs involves blockade of HBsAg release (Noordeen et al., 2015), there has been some debate as to the potential for liver toxicity with NAPs due to the possibility of accumulation of HBsAg within hepatocytes. The fate of intracellular HBsAg with NAP treatment is currently unknown, however in DHBV infection, NAP therapy was not accompanied by any signs of liver dysfunction and DHBsAg was ultimately absent from the livers of ducks which maintained control of infection off treatment (Noordeen et al., 2015). Moreover, reduction of serum HBsAg in human patients exposed to NAP therapy was associated with transient elevation of serum transaminases in some but not all patients (Al-Mahtab et al., 2016). The lack of a clear link between surface antigen reduction in the serum and liver toxicity with NAP therapy in vivo and in the clinic suggests that if surface antigen accumulation is occurring with NAP therapy that it is not causing any significant liver dysfunction.

In a second proof of concept trial conducted in patients with HBeAg positive chronic HBV infection, REP 2139-Ca monotherapy had antiviral effects comparable to REP 2055 but was not accompanied by administration tolerability issues (REP 102 study, Al-Mahtab et al., 2016). In this trial, 9/12 patients achieving reductions in serum HBsAg and HBV DNA >2 log from baseline were permitted to undergo short term combination therapy (13-26 weeks) with immunotherapies approved for use in HBV at the trial site (pegylated interferon alpha 2a or thymosin alpha 1). With either of these therapies, rapid and substantial increases (>200 mIU/ml) in serum anti-HBsAg antibody titers were observed within 5-10 weeks in all patients (9/9) receiving combination therapy, a response highly unusual with immunotherapy when used alone in patients with HBeAg + chronic HBV infection (Lau et al., 2005; Marcellin et al., 2016). After withdrawal of treatment, 8/9 patients initially achieved serum HBV DNA < LLOQ (116 copies/ ml) and 3 further maintained persistent suppression of serum viremia (HBV DNA < 1000 copies/ml and HBsAg <1 IU/ml) for more than 2 years after stopping therapy.

Initial, unpublished interim results from an ongoing proof of concept trial at a second trial site in Caucasian patients with chronic HBV/HDV co-infection (Bazinet et al., 2016) have confirmed the ability of REP 2139-Ca monotherapy to achieve clearance of serum HBsAg and appearance of anti-HBsAg antibodies. Additionally, in those patients achieving HBsAg <1 IU/ml, the same synergistic

antiviral response to pegylated interferon alpha 2a was observed as in the REP 102 study. Moreover, REP 2139-Ca treatment was also accompanied by the clearance of serum HDV RNA. The mechanisms underlying this additional antiviral effect against HDV are still under investigation.

9. Future perspectives

Given the established therapeutic activity of NAPs against HBV and HDV infection *in vivo* and in several preliminary clinical investigations, the elucidation of the molecular basis for the clearance of HBsAg and HDV RNA from the blood by NAPs may lead to an improved understanding of the HBV and HDV lifecycle. Investigations into the post-entry antiviral mechanisms of NAPs in HBV and HBV/HDV infections are underway in earnest. Notwithstanding this, the current pattern of antiviral effects of NAPs *in vivo* and in patients support the general hypothesis that NAPs act to block HBsAg release from infected hepatocytes (perhaps selectively for SVPs) by some non-immunostimulatory mechanism inside infected cells and demonstrate that NAP therapy can achieve substantial reduction or clearance of serum HBsAg in chronic HBV infection.

Of particular interest is the observation that the antiviral effects of two different immunotherapies (pegylated interferon alpha 2a and thymosin alpha 1) appear to be dramatically improved after clearance of HBsAg from the blood in human subjects (Al-Mahtab et al., 2016). The HBsAg protein is the most abundant circulating viral antigen and has been linked to immunosuppression in HBV infection (Kondo et al., 2013). Its clearance from the blood during therapy is recognized as the most reliable indicator of persistence of suppression of viremia off treatment (Frenette and Gish, 2009; Moucari et al., 2009). Moreover, the HBsAg protein has been shown to directly block both adaptive and innate immune processes (Vanlandschoot et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2005; Op den Brouw et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2012) suggesting that circulating HBsAg may not only play a role in suppression of the host immune response to HBV infection but may also interfere with its simulation by immunotherapy.

The initial *in vivo* and clinical investigations described above provide important preliminary observations of the antiviral effects of NAPs in chronic HBV infection. However additional controlled trials will be required to clearly define the full clinical impact of NAP therapy in the treatment of HBV infection and HBV/HDV coinfection. The first of these planned trials is underway and will assess the safety and antiviral activity of add-on treatment of REP 2139-Ca and pegylated interferon alpha 2a in patients with HBeAg negative chronic HBV infection already on treatment with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (REP 401 study, NCT02565719). Additional combination therapy trials with NAPs would also be useful to examine the effects of HBsAg clearance on the efficacy of therapeutic vaccines and other therapeutic approaches currently in development as reviewed by Block et al., 2015.

Acknowledgements

The writing of this review was supported by Replicor Inc. The use of NAP compounds against HBV and HDV is covered by issued US patents 7358068, 8008269, 8008270, 8067385, 8513211, 8716259 and 9133458 and US patent applications 20130309201, 20130310445 and 20160008393 (all pending) and related patents allowed or pending worldwide. The author would like to thank Drs. Michel Bazinet and Matthieu Blanchet for their review of the manuscript.

References

- Al-Mahtab, M., Bazinet, M., Vaillant, A., 2016. Safety and efficacy of nucleic acid polymers in monotherapy and combined with immunotherapy in treatmentnaive bangladeshi patients with HBeAg+ chronic hepatitis B infection. PLoS One 11, e0156667.
- Agrawal, S., Tang, J.Y., Brown, D.M., 1990. Analytical study of phosphorothioate analogues of oligodeoxynucleotides using high performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 509, 396–399.
- Baba, M., Snoeck, R., Pauwels, R., De Clercq, E., 1988a. Sulfated polysaccharaide are potent and selective inhibitors of various enveloped viruses, including herpes simplex virus, cytomegalovirus, vesicular stomatitis virus, and human immunodeficiency virus. Antimocrob. Agents & Chemother. 32, 1742–1745.
- Baba, M., Pauwels, R., Balzarini, J., Arnout, J., Desmyter, J., De Clercq, E., 1988b. Mechanism and inhibitor effect of dextran sulfate and heparin on replication of human immunodeficiency virus in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85, 6132–6136.
- Baba, M., Schols, D., De Clerq, E., Pauwels, R., Nagy, M., Györgyi-Edelenyi, J., Löw, M., Görög, S., 1990. Novel sulfate polymers as highly potent and selective inhibitors of human immunodeficiency virus replication and giant cell formation. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 38, 134–138.
- Basu, A., Beyene, A., Meyer, K., Ray, R., 2004. The hypervariable region 1 of the E2 glycoprotein of hepatitis C binds to glycosaminoglycans, but this binding does not lead to infection in a pseudotype system. J. Virol. 78, 4478–4486.
- Basu, A., Kanda, T., Beyene, A., Saito, K., Meyer, K., Ray, R., 2007. Sulfated homologues of heparin inhibit hepatitis C virus entry into mammalian cells. J. Virol. 81, 3933–3941.
- Bazinet, M., Pantea, V., Cebotarescu, V., Cojuhari, L., Jimbei, P., Albrecht, J., Schmid, P., Karimzadeh, H., Roggendorf, M., Vaillant, A., 2016. Update on the safety and efficacy of REP 2139 monotherapy and subsequent combination therapy with pegylated interferon alpha-2a in Caucasian patients with chronic HBV/HDV coinfection. J. Hepatol. 64, S584.
- Bennett, C.F., Swazye, E.E., 2010. RNA targeting therapeutics: molecular mechanisms of antisense oligonucleotides as a therapeutic platform. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 50, 259–293.
- Bernstein, D.I., Goyette, N., Cardin, R., Kern, E.R., Boivin, G., Ireland, J., Juteau, J.-M., Vaillant, A., 2008. Amphipathic DNA polymers exhibit antiherpetic activity in vitro and in vivo. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 52, 2727–2733.
- Block, T.M., Rawat, S., Brosgart, C.L., 2015. Chronic hepatitis B: a wave of new therapies on the horizon. Antivir. Res. 121, 69–81.
- Bourne, N., Bernstein, D.I., Ireland, J., Sonderfan, A., Profy, A.T., Stanberry, L.R., 1999. The topical microbicide PRO 2000 protects against genital herpes infection in a mouse model. J. Inf. Dis. 180, 203–205.
- Brikh, C., Jamard, C., Quinet, J., Bouchareb, C., Roehl, I., Vaillant, A., Cova, L., 2015. Therapeutic effect against hepatitis B of various nucleic acid polymers in the chronic DHBV infection model. J. Hepatol. 62, S518.
- Cardin, R.D., Bravo, F.J., Sewell, A.P., Cummins, J., Flamand, L., Juteau, J.M., Bernstein, D.I., Vaillant, A., 2009. Amphipathic DNA polymers exhibit antiviral activity against systemic murine Cytomegalovirus infection. Virol. J. 6, 214.
- Caughey, B., Raymond, G.J., 1993. Sulfated polyanion inhibition of scrapie-associated PrP accumulation in cultured cells. J. Virol. 67, 643–650.
- Chang, K.-S., Jiang, J., Cai, Z., Luo, G., 2007. Human apolipoprotein E is required for infectivity and production of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. J. Virol. 81, 13783–13793.
- Chang, T.-T., Gish, R.G., de Man, R., Gadano, A., Sollano, J., Chao, Y.-C., Lok, A.S., Han, K.-H., Goodman, Z., Zhu, J., et al., 2006. A comparison of entecavir and lamivudine for HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. N. Engl. J. Med. 354, 1001–1010.
- Cheshenko, N., Keller, M.J., MasCasullo, V., Jarvis, G.A., Cheng, H., John, M., Li, J.-H., Hogarty, K., Anderson, R.A., Waller, D.P., Zaneveld, LJ.D., Profy, A.T., Klotman, M.E., Herold, B.C., 2004. Candidate topical microbicides bind herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B and prevent viral entry and cell-to-cell spread. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 2025–2036.
- Cheng, J., Imanishi, H., Morisaki, H., Liu, W., Nakamura, H., Morisaki, T., Hada, T., 2005. Recombinant HBsAg inhibits LPS-induced COX-2 expression and IL-18 production by interfering with the NFkB pathway in a human monocytic cell line, THP-1. J. Hepatol. 43, 465–471.
- Chi, K.N., Eisenhauer, E., Fazli, L., Jones, E.C., Goldenberg, S.L., Powers, J., Tu, D., Gleave, M.E., 2005. A phase I pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics study of OGX-011, a 2'methoxyethyl antisense oligonucleotide to clustrin, in patients with localized prostate cancer. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 97, 1287–1296.
- Chisari, F.V., Filippi, P., Buras, J., McLachlan, A., Popper, H., Pinkert, C.A., Palmiter, R.D., Brinster, R.L., 1987. Structural and pathological effects of synthesis of hepatitis B virus large envelope polypeptide in transgenic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84, 6909–6913.
- Clark, D.L., Chrisey, L.A., Campbell, J.R., Davidson, E.A., 1994. Non-sequence-specific antimalarial activity of oligodeoxynucleotides. Mol. Biochem. Pharmacol. 63, 129–134.
- Eckert, D.M., Kim, P.S., 2001. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70, 777–810.
- Ehrlich, M., Gama Sosa, M.A., Huang, L.-H., Midgett, R.M., Kuo, K.C., McCune, R.A., Gehrke, C., 1982. Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues or cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 10, 2709–2721.
- Fennewald, S.M., Rando, R.F., 1995. Inhibition of high affinity basic fibroblast growth

factor binding by oligonucleotides. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 21718–21721.

- Feyzi, E., Trybala, E., Berstrom, T., Lindhal, U., Spillmann, D., 1997. Structural requirement of heparan sulfate for interaction with herpes simplex virus type 1 virions and isolated glycoprotein C. J. Biol. Chem. 40, 24850–24857.
- Franke, C., Matschl, U., Bruns, M., 2007. Enzymatic treatment of duck hepatitis B virus: topology of the surface proteins for virions and non-infectious subviral particles. Virology 359, 26–136.
- Foster, W.K., Miller, D.S., Marion, P.L., Colonno, R.J., Kotlarski, I., Jilbert, A.R., 2003. Entecavir therapy combined with DNA vaccination for persistent duck hepatitis B virus infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47, 2624–2635.
- Frenette, C.T., Gish, R.G., 2009. To "be" or not to "Be": this is the question. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 104, 1948–1952.
- Galvanes, F., Gonzalez-Ros, J.M., Peterson, D.L., 1982. Structure of hepatitis B surface antigen: characterization of the lipid components and their association with the viral proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 7770–7777.
- Ganem, D., Prince, A.M., 2004. Hepatitis B virus infection—natural history and clinical consequences. N. Engl. J. Med. 350, 1118–1129.Geary, R.S., Norris, D., Yu, R., Bennett, C.F., 2015. Pharmacokinetics, biodistribution
- Geary, R.S., Norris, D., Yu, R., Bennett, C.F., 2015. Pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and cell uptake of antisense oligonucleotides. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 87, 46–51.
- Geinguenaud, F., Liquier, J., Brevnov, M., Petrauskene, O.V., Alexeev, Y.I., Gromova, E.S., Taillandier, E., 2000. Parallel Self-associated structures formed by T,C-rich sequences at acidic pH. Biochemistry 39, 12650–12658.
- Ghosh, T., Chattopadhyay, K., Marschall, M., Karmakar, P., Mandal, P., Ray, B., 2009. Focus on antivirally active sulfated polysacharrides: from structure-activity analysis to clinical evaluation. Glycobiology 19, 2–15.
- Gish, R.G., Given, B.D., Lai, C.L., Locarnini, S.A., Lau, J.Y., Lewis, D.L., Schluep, T., 2015. Chronic hepatitis B: virology, natural history, current management and a glimpse at future opportunities. Antivir. Res. 121, 47–58.
- Guillot, C., Hantz, O., Vaillant, A., Chemin, L., 2015. Antiviral effects of nucleic acid polymers on hepatitis B virus infection. J. Hepatol. 62, s523.
- Guvakova, M.A., Yakubov, L.A., Vlodavsky, I., Tonkinson, J.L., Stein, C.A., 1995. Phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides bind to basic fibroblast growth factor, inhibit its binding to cell surface receptors, and remove it from low affinity binding sites on extracellular matrix. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 2620–2627.
- Guzman, E.M., Cheshenko, N., Shende, V., Keller, M.J., Goyette, N., Juteau, J.M., Biovin, G., Vaillant, A., Herold, B.C., 2007. Amphipathic DNA polymers are candidate vaginal microbicides and block herpes simplex virus binding, entry and viral gene expression. Antivir. Ther. 12, 1147–1156.
- Hosoya, M., Balzarini, J., Shigeta, S., De Clercq, E., 1991. Differential inhibitory effects of sulfated polysaccharides and polymers on the replication of various myxoviruses and retrovirsues, depending on the composition of the target amino acid sequences on the viral envelope glycoproteins. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 35, 2515–2520.
- Ikeda, S., Neyts, J., Verma, S., Wickramasinghee, A., Mohan, P., De Clercq, E., 1994. In vitro and in vivo inhibition of ortho- and paramyxovirus infections by a new class of sulfonic acid polymers interacting with virus-cell binding and/or fusion. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 38, 256–259.
- Judge, A.D., Bola, G., Lee, A.C.H., MacLachlan, I., 2006. Design of noninflammatory synthetic siRNA mediating potent gene silencing in vivo. Mol. Ther. 13, 494–504.
- Kanehara, H., Mizuguchi, M., Tajima, K., Kanaori, K., Makino, K., 1997. Spectroscopic evidence for the formation of four-stranded solution structure of oligodeoxycytidine phosphorothioate. Biochemistry 36, 1790–1797.
- Kanagaratnam, R., Misiura, K., Rebowski, G., Ramasamy, R., 1998. Malaria meroziote surface protein antisense oligodeoxynucleotides lack antisense activity but function as polyanions to inhibit red cell invasion. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 30, 979–985.
- Kariko, K., Buckstein, M., Ni, H., Weissman, D., 2005. Suppression of RNA recognition by toll-like receptors: the impact of nucleoside modification and the evolutionary origin of RNA. Immunity 23, 165–175.
- Kastelein, J.J., Wedel, M.K., Baker, B.F., Su, J., Bradley, J.D., Yu, R.Z., Chuang, E., Graham, M.J., Crooke, R.M., 2006. Potent reduction of apolipoprotein B and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol by short-term administration of an antisense inhibitor of apolipoprotein B. Circulation 114, 1729–1735.
- Kawai, T., Akira, S., 2009. The roles of TLRs, RLRs and NLRs in pathogen recognition. Int. Immunol. 21, 317–337.
- Kiss, T., 2001. Small Nucleolar RNA-guided post-transcriptional modification of cellular RNAs. EMBO J. 20, 3617–3622.
- Knaus, K.J., Morillas, M., Swietnicki, W., Malone, M., Surewicz, W., Yee, V.C., 2001. Crystal structure of the human prion protein reveals a mechanism for oligomerization. Nat. Struct. Biol. 8, 770–774.
- Koller, E., Vincent, T.M., Chappell, A., De, S., Manoharan, M., Bennett, C.F., 2011. Mechanisms of single-stranded phosphorothioate modified antisense oligonucleotide accumulation in hepatocytes. Nucleic Acids Res. 39, 4795–4807.
- Kondo, Y., Ninomiya, M., Kakazu, E., Kimura, O., Shimosegawa, T., 2013. Hepatitis B surface antigen could contribute to immunopathogenesis of hepatitis B virus infection. ISRN Gastroenterol. 2013, 935295.
- Kocisko, D.A., Vaillant, A., Lee, K.S., Arnold, K.M., Bertholet, N., Race, R.E., Olsen, E.A., Juteau, J.M., Caughey, B., 2006. Potent antiscrapie activities of degenerate phosphorothioate oligonucleotides. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50, 1034–1044.
- Krieg, A.M., 2002. CpG motifs in bacterial DNA and their immune effects. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 20, 709–760.
- Lai, C.L., Shouval, D., Lok, A.S., Chang, T.T., Cheinquer, H., Goodman, Z., DeHertogh, D., Wilber, R., Zink, R.C., Cross, A., Colonno, R., Fernandes, L., 2006.

Entecavir versus lamivudine for patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. N. Engl. J. Med. 354, 1011–1120.

- Lamb, R.A., Jardetzky, T.S., 2007. Structural basis of viral invasion: lessons from paramyxovirus F. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 17, 427–436.
- Lau, G.K.K., Piratvisuth, T., Luo, K.X., Marcellin, P., Thonhsawat, S., Cooksley, G., Gane, E., Fried, M.W., Chow, W.C., Paik, S.W., Chang, W.Y., Berg, T., Flisiak, R., McCloud, P., Pluck, N., 2005. Peginterferon Alfa-2a, lamivudine and the combination for HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. N. Eng. J. Med. 352, 2682–2695.
- Lee, A.M., Rojek, J.M., Gundersen, A., Ströher, U., Juteau, J.M., Vaillant, A., Kunz, S., 2007. Inhibition of cellular entry of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus by amphipathic DNA polymers. Virology 372, 107–117.
- Lee, E., Pavy, M., Young, N., Freeman, C., Lobigs, 2006. Antiviral effect of the heparan sulfate mimetic, PI-88, against dengue and encephalitic flavirviruses. Antivir. Res. 69, 31–38.
- Le Guerhier, F., Thermet, A., Guerret, S., Chevallier, M., Jamard, C., Gibbs, C.S., Trépo, C., Cova, L., Zoulim, F., 2003. Antiviral effect of adefovir in combination with a DNA vaccine in the duck hepatitis B virus infection model. J. Hepatol. 38, 328–334.
- Leistner, C., Gruen-Bernhard, S., Glebe, D., 2008. Role of glycosaminoglycans for binding and infection of hepatitis B virus. Cell. Microbiol. 10, 122–133. Leroy, J.-L., Gehrig, K., Kettani, A., Guéron, M., 1993. Acid multimers of oligodeox-
- Leroy, J.-L., Gehrig, K., Kettani, A., Guéron, M., 1993. Acid multimers of oligodeoxycytidine strands: stoichiometry, base-pair characterization, and proton exchange properties. Biochemistry 32, 6019–6031.
- Libeu, C.P., Lund-Katz, S., Phillips, M.C., Wehrli, S., Hernaiz, M.J., Capila, I., Linhdart, R.J., Raffai, R.L., Newhouse, Y.M., Zhou, F., Weisgraber, K.H., 2001. New insights into the heparan sulfate proteoglycan-binding activity of apolipoprotein E. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 39138–39144.
- Lin, E., Luscombe, C., Colledge, D., Wang, Y.Y., Locarnini, S., 1998. Long-term therapy with the guanine nucleoside analog penciclovir controls chronic duck hepatitis B virus infection in vivo. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 42, 2132–2137.
- Longarela, O.L., Schmidt, T.T., Schöneweis, K., Romer, R., Wedemeyer, H., Urban, S., Schulz, A., 2013. Proteoglycans act as cellular hepatitis delta virus attachment receptors. PLoS One 8, e58340.
- Lüsher-Mattli, M., 2000. Polyanions a lost chance in the fight against HIV and other virus diseases? Antivir. Chem. Cheomther 11, 249–259.
- Marcellin, P., Ahn, S.-H., Ma, X., Caruntu, F.A., Tak, W.Y., Elkashab, M., Chuang, W.-L., Lim, S.-G., Tabek, F., Mehta, R., Petersen, J., Foster, G.R., Lou, L., Martins, E.B., Dinh, P., Lin, L., Corsa, A., Charuworn, P., Subramanian, G.M., Reiser, H., Reesink, H.W., Fung, S., Strasser, S.I., Trinh, H., Buti, M., Gaeta, G.B., Hui, A.J., Papatheodoridis, G., Flisiak, R., Chan, H.L.Y., 2016. Combination of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate and peginterferon a-2a increases loss of hepatitis B surface antigen in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 150, 134–144.
- Marcellin, P., Heathcote, E.J., Buti, M., Gane, E., de Man, R.A., Krastev, Z., Germanidis, G., Lee, S.S., Flisiak, R., Kaita, K., Manns, M., Lotzev, I., Tchernev, K., Buggisch, P., Weilert, F., Kurdas, O.O., Shiffman, M.L., Trinh, H., Washington, M.K., Sorbel, J., Anderson, J., Snow-Lampart, A., Mondou, E., Quinn, J., Rosseau, F., 2008. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate versus adefovir dipivoxil for chronic hepatitis B. N. Engl. J. Med. 2008 (359), 2442–2455.
- Mata, J.E., Bishop, M.R., Tarantolo, S.R., Angle, C.R., Swanson, S.A., Iversen, P.L., 2000. Evidence of enhanced iron excretion during systemic phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotide treatment. Clin. Toxicol. 38, 383–387.
- Matsumura, T., Hu, Z., Kato, T., Dreux, M., Zhang, Y.-Y., Imamura, M., Hiraga, N., Juteau, J.-M., Cosset, F.-L., Chayama, K., Vaillant, A., Liang, T.J., 2009. Amphipathic DNA polymers inhibit hepatitis C virus infection by blocking viral entry. Gastroenterology 137, 673–681.
- Medhi, H., Kaplan, M.J., Anlar, F.Y., Yang, X., Bayer, R., Sutherland, K., Peeples, M.E., 1994. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen binds to apolipoprotein H. J. Virol. 68, 2415–2424.
- Medhi, H., Naqvi, A., Kamboh, M.I., 2008. Recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen and anionic phospholipids share a binding region in the fifth domain of beta2glycoprotein I (apolipoprotein H). Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1782, 163–168.
- Moucari, R., Lada, O., Marcellin, P., 2009. Chronic Hepatitis B: back to the future with HBsAg. Exp. Rev. Anti Infect. Ther. 7, 633–636.
- Neurath, R., Strick, N., Li, Y.-Y., 2002. Anti-HIV-1 activity of anionic polymers: a comparative study of candidate microbicides. BMC Inf. Dis. 2, 27.
- Nicoll, A.J., Colledge, D.L., Toole, J.J., Angus, P.W., Smallwood, R.A., Locarnini, S.A., 1988. Inhibition of duck hepatitis B virus replication by 9-(2phosphonylmethoxyethyl) adenine, an acyclic phosphonate nucleoside analogue. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1998 (42), 3130–3135.
- Noordeen, F., Scougall, C.A., Grosse, A., Qiao, Q., Ajilian, B.B., Reaiche-Miller, G., Finnie, J., Werner, M., Broering, R., Schlaak, J., Vaillant, A., Jilbert, A.J., 2015. Therapeutic antiviral effect of the nucleic acid polymer REP 2055 against persistent duck hepatitis B virus infection. PLoS One 10, e0140909.
- Noordeen, F., Vaillant, A., Jilbert, A.R., 2013a. Nucleic acid polymers inhibit duck hepatitis B virus infection in vitro. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57, 5291–5298.
- Noordeen, F., Vaillant, A., Jilbert, A.R., 2013b. Nucleic acid polymers prevent the establishment of duck hepatitis B virus infection in vivo. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57, 5299–5306.
- Op den Brouw, M.L., Binda, R.S., van Roosmalen, M.H., Protzer, U., Janssen, H.L., van der Molen, R.G., Woltman, A.M., 2008. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen impairs myeloid dendritic cell function: a possible immune escape mechanism of hepatitis B virus. Immunology 126, 280–289.
- Robbins, M., Judge, A., Liang, L., McClintock, K., Yaworski, E., MacLachlan, I., 2007. 2'-

O-methyl-modified RNAs act as TLR7 antagonists. Mol. Ther. 15, 1663–1669.

- Robinson, J., Viti, M., Höök, M., 1984. Structure and properties of an undersulfated heparan sulfate proteoglycan synthesized by a rat hepatoma cell line. J. Cell Biol. 98, 946–953.
- Rusconi, S., Moonis, M., Merrill, D.P., Pallai, P., Neidhardt, E.A., Singh, S.K., Willis, K.J., Osbourne, M.S., Profy, A.T., Jenson, J.C., Hirsch, M.S., 1996. Napthalene sulfonate polymers with CD4-blocking and anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activities. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 40, 234–236.
- Schulze, A., Gripon, P., Urban, S., 2007. Hepatitis B virus infection initiates with a large surface protein-dependent binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Hepatology 46, 1759–1768.
- Schweitzer, A., Horn, J., Mikolajczyk, R.T., Krause, G., Ott, J.J., 2015. Estimations of worldwide prevalence of chronic hepatitis B virus infection: a systematic review of data published between 1965 and 2013. Lancet 386, 1546–1555.
- Sharma, V., Sharma, R.K., Singh, S.K., 2014. Antisense oligonucleotides: modifications and clinical trials. Med. Chem. Commun. 5, 1454–1471.
- Shi, B., Ren, G., Hu, Y., Wang, S., Zhang, Z., Yuan, Z., 2012. HBsAg inhibits INF-α production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TNFα and IL-10 induction in monocytes. PLoS One 7, e44900.
- Singh, S.K., Hora, R., Belrhali, H., Chitnis, C.E., Sharma, A., 2005. Structural bases for Duffy recognition by the malaria parasite Duffy-binding-like domain. Nature 439, 741–744.
- Tolcher, A.W., Kuhn, J., Schwartz, G., Patnaik, A., Hammond, L.A., Thompson, I., Fingert, H., Bushnell, D., Malik, S., Kreisberg, J., Izbicka, E., Smetzer, L., Rowinsky, E.K., 2004. A phase I pharmacokinetic and biological correlative study of oblimersen sodium (Genaesene, G3139), an antisense oligonucleotide to the bcl-2 mRNA, and of docetaxel in patients with hormone-refractory

prostate cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. 10, 5048-5057.

- Vaillant, A., Juteau, J.-M., Lu, H., Liu, S., Lackman-Smith, C., Ptak, R., Jiang, S., 2006. Phosphorothioate oligonucleotides inhibit human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion by blocking gp41 core formation. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother 50, 1393–1401.
- Vanlandschoot, P., Van Houtte, F., Roobrouck, A., Farhoudi, A., Lerous-Roels, G., 2002. Hepatitis B virus surface antigen suppresses the activation of monocytes through interaction with a serum protein and a monocyte-specific receptor. J. Gen. Virol. 82, 1281–1289.
- Vogt, A.M., Barragan, A., Chen, Q., Kironde, F., Spillmann, D., Wahlgren, M., 2003. Heparan sulfate on endothelial cells mediated the binding of Plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes via the DBL1a domain of PfEMP1. Blood 101, 2405–2411.
- Wilson, R.C., Doudna, J.A., 2013. Molecular mechanisms of RNA interference. Ann. Rev. Biophys. 42, 217–239.
- Wu, J., Meng, Z., Jiang, M., Pei, R., Trippler, M., Broering, R., Bucchi, A., Sowa, J.-P., Dittmer, U., Yang, D., Roggendorf, M., Gerken, G., Lu, M., Schlaak, J.F., 2009. Hepatitis B virus suppresses Toll-like receptor-mediated innate immune responses in murine parenchymal and nonparenchymal liver cells. Hepatology 49, 1132–1140.
- Xiao, L., Yang, C., Patterson, P.S., Udhayakumar, V., Lal, A.A., 1996. Sulfated polyanions inhibit invasion of erythrocytes by plasmodial merozoites and cytoadherence of endothelial cells to parasitized erythrocytes. Infect. Immun. 64, 1373–1378.
- Xu, Y., Hu, Y., Shi, B., Zhang, X., Wang, J., Zhang, Z., Shen, F., Zhang, Q., Sun, S., Yuan, Z., 2009. HBsAg inhibits TLR-9-mediated activation and INF-α production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Mol. Immunol. 46, 2640–2646.